No. 47126-4-11

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO**

DALE E. and LETA L. ANDERSON; DALE E. ANDERSON and LETA L. ANDERSON, TRUSTEES OF THE DALE E. ANDERSON AND LETA L. ANDERSON FAMILY TRUST; and RIVER PROPERTY, LLC,

Appellants,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Michael J. DeFrees and Cristi D. DeFrees, and Craig Stein, ask this Court to review the decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision on March 15, 2016. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix. No motion for reconsideration or motion to publish was filed.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether an amendment to a declaration of covenants and restrictions ("Covenants") is validly adopted where it is consistent with the general plan of development and relates to existing covenants, even where the amendment is not approved unanimously?
- 2. Does the adoption of an amendment to the covenants by a supermajority, rather than by a simple majority, allow the adoption of the amendment to be effective?
- 3. Whether the law of the case doctrine prevents consideration of whether the amendment at issue required a unanimous vote?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals accurately set forth the facts and procedural background in its opinion. *See* Appendix, at 3-5. There is one exception, however: the Court of Appeals opinion stated that the Andersons

appealed an order granting summary judgment. *Id.* at 5. In fact, however, the Andersons appealed the court's conclusions following trial, consisting of a memorandum of opinion, findings of fact and conclusions of law, and the judgment.¹

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review of this matter because the interpretation of covenants, and amendments thereto, presents issues of substantial public interest, given the number of citizens whose residences are subject to such covenants throughout the State. Expounding on as to when covenants may be modified, by a supermajority of homeowners, would assist in the analysis of residents' reasonable expectations concerning changes to the covenants to which they are subject.

Review should also be accepted because the *Wilkinson* case² dealt with only a simple majority adding a new restrictive covenant, whereas this case involved the vote of 80.7 percent of the affected homeowners, far more than a simple majority. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision thwarts the intention of a supermajority of homeowners, allowing a very small minority of owners to dictate the covenants that will govern their subdivision. This Court should consider the issue of whether a supermajority of homeowners may properly and lawfully adopt an

¹ Those documents are located at CP 16-31.

² Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241 (2014).

amendment to the covenants governing their subdivision, notwithstanding the opposing position of a slight minority of homeowners.

Finally, the proper application of the law of the case doctrine to the Court of Appeals' initial decision is also a matter of substantial public importance, particularly where *Wilkinson* was decided after the Court of Appeals issued its first opinion in this action.

1. The Amendment to the Covenants Was Valid Because It Was Consistent With the General Plan of Development and Was Related to Existing Covenants.

In *Wilkinson*, the covenants at issue allowed the landowners to "change the covenants by majority vote." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 246. The Court held that the amendment at issue, prohibiting short term rentals of homes, was a new prohibition (rather than a "change") which could not be adopted by a simple majority vote, but rather had to be adopted unanimously. *Id.* at 255. The Court stated that the general rule was that:

when the general plan of development permits a majority to *change* the covenants but not create new ones, a simple majority cannot add new restrictive covenants that are inconsistent with the general plan of development or have no relation to existing covenants. (Emphasis by court.)

Id. at 256. Significantly, the Court expressly declined to provide guidance as to when an amendment would be "consistent with the general plan of development." *Id.* This Court should accept review so as to provide that guidance in this case.

That guidance should be consistent with Justice Madsen's statement in *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 241 (Madsen, C.J., dissenting):

Or, to put it another way, the rule ensures that a neighborhood will retain its essential nature and character as originally developed. Homeowners' legitimate expectations based on the covenants governing at the time they acquired their property will in general be protected.

In other words, changes to covenants which are consistent with the "essential nature and character" of the development should be allowed as consistent with the general plan of development.

The general rule implicitly recognizes that even a new covenant can be validly adopted where it is consistent with the general plan of development and is related to existing covenants. Here, the amendment at issue was both consistent with the general plan of development and related to existing Covenants.

The original Covenants expressly provided that no lot could have any building other than "one detached single family dwelling...". Ex. 1.³ Strict controls were placed upon the type of single family dwelling that could be placed on a lot. For example the total floor area had to be at least 2600 square feet for a one story dwelling, and at least 3000 square feet for a dwelling of more than one story. *Id.* The Covenants also provided that

³ The entire set of trial exhibits were made part of the record on appeal.

no building could be erected without approval by an Architectural Control Committee, including "as to quality of workmanship and materials, harmony of external design with existing structure, and as to location with respect to topography and finished grade elevation." It was therefore expressly contemplated that the 13 original lots in Rivershore would be of a harmonious character, with one specified type of residence on one single lot.

The Covenants also provided that any modification to the covenants could be made by affirmative vote of 80 percent of the owners of lots. *Id.*

With those provisions and restrictions in mind, over 80 percent of the Rivershore owners adopted the first amendment to the Covenants, modifying Section one to provide that the original 13 lots in Rivershore could not be further subdivided or short platted. Ex. 4.

This amendment serves to facilitate the general plan of development, which was to maintain an exclusive, luxurious development of 13 homes along the Columbia River. The amendment was also related to the above-referenced restrictions, which were originally enacted to protect the upscale character of the subdivision.

Because the amendment was consistent with the general plan of development, was related to existing covenants, and was adopted by an 80

percent supermajority rather than by a simple minority, this Court should accept review and determine that the amendment was validly adopted within the contemplation of *Wilkinson*.

2. Adoption of an Amendment by a Supermajority is Consistent with the Goals the *Wilkinson* Court Sought to Further.

The *Wilkinson* rule was intended to protect "the reasonable, settled expectation of landowners..." *Wilkinson*, 181 Wn.2d at 256. Here, the objective and reasonable expectation of Rivershore homeowners was that their riverfront estate properties would not be subjected to lot subdivisions and infill developments such as that contemplated by the Andersons. Accordingly, the Covenants provide for an Architectural Control Committee and strict controls on the types and designs of residences that can be constructed within Rivershore.

The decision of the Court of Appeals turns the intention of the Wilkinson rule on its head. In Wilkinson, the Court sought to protect the reasonable expectations of homeowners from having those expectations changed by a "simple majority." Id. Here, in contrast, we are not faced with a situation where a simple majority of owners is attempting to impose its will upon a substantial minority of homeowners. Instead, the amendment was passed by an 80 percent supermajority. The Court of Appeals' decision allows a very small minority of landowners to thwart

the reasonable expectations of a supermajority. The rights and expectations of a vast majority of homeowners are every bit as worthy of protection as are the expectations of a minority.

All homeowners in Rivershore were aware that the existing Covenants were subject to modification by an 80 percent supermajority. That is precisely what the supermajority of homeowners did when they passed the amendment to the Covenants. The Court should accept review and find that the amendment was valid in light of the terms of the existing Covenants, the reasonable expectations of the homeowners, and the fact that the amendment was adopted by a supermajority of homeowners.

3. The Law of the Case Doctrine Should Have Been Applied to Preclude the Court of Appeals from Concluding That the Amendment was Invalid.

In the prior appeal, the Court of Appeals expressly upheld the validity of the 2008 amendment. Ex. 47.

We conclude that the amendment to the covenants was valid because, in conformance with the covenants, it was approved by owners holding more than 80 percent of current ownership interest in the lots in the subdivision....We also conclude that the Andersons' equitable claims must be remanded for further proceedings. We retain jurisdiction so that, should the Andersons be successful in these proceedings, we may consider whether the Andersons' application will need to be processed as a plat alteration or as a short plat.

The law of the case doctrine "applies to successive proceedings in the same case...". Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 192 Wn. App. 30, 55 (2015). See also Columbia Steel Company v. State, 34 Wn.2d 700, 705 (1949):

The law is well settled in this state that on a second appeal we will not review questions decided by us on the former appeal.

In its opinion on the second appeal, the Court of Appeals held that the validity of the amendment was an issue not decided in the prior appeal. Appendix, at 6. The Court relied upon the portion of the prior opinion which stated that it was not deciding whether the amendment "was substantively invalid." Ex. 47 at 5. However, the only issue on which the Court remanded the case for trial was on plaintiffs' claim of equitable estoppel. *Id.* at 8. The case was not remanded so that the parties could argue the substantive validity of the amendment. That is because the Court of Appeals had held, "The trial court's ruling that the amendment was invalid is reversed." *Id.*

Thus, the Court of Appeals previously decided that the amendment was valid unless plaintiffs could establish equitable estoppel. The Court of Appeals' decision at issue purports to change its prior conclusion. Such a change of heart is inconsistent with the purposes of the law of the case doctrine, which are "to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial

process." Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41 (2005). This Court should accept review of this case and hold that invalidating the amendment was impermissible under the law of the case doctrine.

DATED this _____ day of April, 2016.

HEURLIN, POTTER, JAHN, LEATHAM, HOLTMANN & STOKER, P.S.

Stephen G. Leatham, WSBA #15572

APPENDIX

March 15, 2016

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DALE E. and LETA L. ANDERSON; DALE E. ANDERSON and LETA L. ANDERSON, Trustees of the DALE E. ANDERSON and LETA L. ANDERSON FAMILY TRUST; and RIVER PROPERTY LLC,

Appellants,

ν.

JAMES W. BROWN; ROBERTA D. DAVIS; KAE HOWARD, TRUSTEE OF THE KAE HOWARD TRUST; MICHAEL J. and CRISTI D. DEFREES, husband and wife; TUAN TRAN and KATHY HOANG, husband and wife; VINCENT and SHELLY HUFFSTUTTER, husband and wife; THOMAS J. and GLORIA S. KINGZETT, husband and wife; LARRY R. and SUSAN I. MACKIN, husband and wife; TOD E. MCCLASKEY, JR. and VERONICA A. MCCLASKEY, TRUSTEES OF THE MCCLASKEY FAMILY TRUST-FUND A; CRAIG STEIN; RICHARD and CAROL TERRELL, husband and wife,

Respondents.

No. 47126-4-II

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

BJORGEN, A.C.J. — Dale and Leta Anderson (the Andersons) appeal the trial court's judgment involving their planned subdivision of a lot they purchased in the Rivershore Estates

Phase I development (Rivershore) in Vancouver. This appeal is the second in this case, following an earlier appeal of an order granting summary judgment by other property owners in the Rivershore development (the Neighbors).

The trial court concluded that the Andersons may not subdivide the lot, because we decided in the earlier appeal that the Neighbors validly adopted an amendment to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Rivershore (the Covenants) prohibiting further subdivision.

The trial court also ruled that the Neighbors were not estopped from challenging the Andersons' plans to subdivide. On appeal, the Andersons argue that the amendment was invalid, contending that it imposed a new restriction without a unanimous vote or a provision in the Covenants allowing for adoption by less than a unanimous vote. The Andersons further contend that the trial court erred by applying the law of the case doctrine to preclude its consideration of the issue. They also challenge the amendment on grounds that there were deficiencies with several of the votes cast and argue that the trial court erred by concluding that the Neighbors were not estopped from amending the Covenants to prohibit subdivision.

We hold that the amendment was not validly adopted, because the law of the case doctrine does not prevent consideration of whether the amendment required a unanimous vote and the amendment could only be adopted by unanimous vote. Accordingly, we reverse the trial court's order and remand for entry of a declaratory judgment in the Andersons' favor. With this result, we need not reach the Andersons' other challenges.

FACTS

The Andersons and the Neighbors are owners of lots in the Rivershore development in Vancouver. The lots in Rivershore are subject to the Covenants, which impose a variety of restrictions. The Covenants may be amended by "affirmative vote of 80% of the then owners of lots within this subdivision." Ex. 1.

In 2002, the Andersons were the owners of Lot 4 in Rivershore. They learned fellow Rivershore lot owner James Brown planned to subdivide Lot 13 into two lots and, along with several of the Neighbors, retained an attorney in an effort to stop Brown's subdivision. They challenged the subdivision before the city of Vancouver, but were unsuccessful. Their attorney told them that future subdivision could be prohibited by amending the Covenants. However, they decided not to pursue further litigation over the matter and took no efforts to amend the Covenants. Brown followed through with the subdivision of Lot 13 in 2003, and in 2005 the Andersons purchased one of the divided portions of Lot 13 as members of a holding company, River Property LLC.

In 2008, the Andersons purchased Lot 2 with the intent of subdividing it as Brown had done with Lot 13. They applied for the subdivision with the city of Vancouver shortly thereafter. In opposition, the Neighbors proposed an amendment to the Covenants providing that "Lots 1 through 13, consisting of the original 13 lots contained in Rivershore, shall not be further subdivided or short platted." *Anderson v. Brown (Anderson* 1), noted at 176 Wn. App. 1016, 2013 WL 4774132, at *3 (2013) (unpublished opinion). Neither the Andersons, as owners of Lots 2 and 4, nor River Property, as the owner of a subdivided portion of Lot 13, voted in favor of the amendment. However, all of the other owners voted in favor of the amendment. The amendment thus passed and was recorded with the county. *Id.* at *5-6.

The Andersons filed suit in Clark County Superior Court seeking a declaratory judgment that they may move forward with the subdivision plan because the 2008 amendment was invalid. *Anderson* 1, 2013 WL 4774132 at *6-7. The Andersons also claimed that the Neighbors should be equitably estopped from amending the Covenants to prohibit subdivision. *Id.* at *7. The trial court granted partial summary judgment to the Andersons, ruling that the original Covenants did not prohibit subdivision and the amendment was invalid because it was not adopted by a vote of at least 80 percent of the owners at the time of the voting. *Id.*

The Neighbors appealed the grant of summary judgment to this court, arguing that the trial court had misinterpreted the voting provision in the Covenants as allowing amendment by 80 percent of current owners, rather than by current owners of 80 percent of the lots as originally platted. *Anderson* 1, 2013 WL 4774132 at *9. In 2013, we issued our opinion in that appeal, reversing summary judgment and holding that the Neighbors' interpretation of the voting provision was correct and 80.7 percent of the votes cast were therefore in favor of the 2008 amendment. *Id.* We remanded to the trial court for further factual development on the equitable estoppel claim. *Id.* at 15.

The next year, our Supreme Court decided *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). It clarified that "when the general plan of development permits a majority to *change* the covenants but not create new ones, a simple majority cannot add new restrictive covenants that are inconsistent with the general plan of development or have no relation to existing covenants." 180 Wn.2d at 256. Because new restrictions adopted with less than unanimous approval unexpectedly diminish minority owners' property rights, they must be carefully scrutinized. *Id*.

On remand in 2015, the Andersons tried their case to the trial court, which ultimately decided that the 2008 amendment was validly adopted and that the Neighbors were not equitably estopped from amending the Covenants to prohibit subdivision. It expressly concluded that under the rule stated in *Wilkinson* the amendment would *not* have been validly adopted, but determined that the law of the case doctrine precluded the declaratory relief the Andersons sought because we had decided in the first appeal that the amendment *was* validly adopted. The trial court also concluded that the law of the case doctrine prohibited its consideration of any defects with the votes cast in favor of the amendment because we held in the earlier appeal that 80.7 percent of the votes were validly cast in favor. On the issue of estoppel, it ruled that the Neighbors had not waived their rights to oppose future subdivisions under the new amendment merely because they dropped their opposition to Brown's earlier subdivision of Lot 13.

The Andersons appeal the trial court's order granting summary judgment.

ANALYSIS

The Andersons contend that the trial court erred in its legal conclusions, but do not challenge its factual findings. They argue that (1) this court has yet to decide whether the 2008 amendment was invalid under *Wilkinson* and should decide in this appeal that it is indeed invalid because it imposed a new restriction not adopted by unanimous vote, and (2) we should decline to apply the law of the case doctrine to bar this challenge under *Wilkinson*. The Andersons argue also that the law of the case doctrine does not apply to their challenge to votes cast by some of the Neighbors and that we should hold those votes invalid. The Andersons further argue that the Neighbors should be estopped from claiming that the Andersons may not subdivide Lot 2, because they declined to oppose Brown's subdivision of Lot 13 and took no action to add a subdivision restriction to the Covenants before the Andersons purchased Lot 2.

We review a trial court's decision following a bench trial to determine whether the findings of facts are supported by substantial evidence and whether those findings support the conclusions of law, which we review de novo. *Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club*, 184 Wn. App. 252, 266, 337 P.3d 328 (2014), *review denied*, 183 Wn.2d 1008 (2015). Because the Andersons do not challenge the trial court's findings of fact, we consider those findings verities on appeal. *Id.* at 267. We review all underlying issues of law de novo. *Id.* at 267.

I. ADOPTION OF THE AMENDMENT BY LESS THAN UNANIMOUS VOTE

The Neighbors argue that we decided in the previous appeal that the 2008 amendment was validly adopted and that under the law of the case doctrine we should decline to revisit that issue. The Andersons disagree that we decided the issue in 2008, and argue that the amendment was not validly adopted because it was not approved by unanimous vote. We agree with the Andersons that the amendment was not validly adopted and the issue was not decided in the earlier appeal.

1. The Law of the Case Doctrine

The law of the case doctrine may apply where there has been a prior appellate decision in the same case. *Worden v. Smith*, 178 Wn. App. 309, 324, 314 P.3d 1125 (2013). "In its most common form," the doctrine "stands for the proposition that once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent stages of the same litigation." *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). Questions actually decided by the prior appellate decision, or which could have been decided had they been raised before the appellate court in the earlier appeal, "will not again be considered on a subsequent appeal if there is no substantial change in the evidence." *Folsom v. County of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988) (quoting *Adamson v. Traylor*, 66 Wn.2d 338, 339, 402

P.2d 499 (1965)). Primarily, the doctrine is intended "to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial process." *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 41.

2. The Law of the Case Doctrine Does Not Preclude Our Consideration of the Validity of the 2008 Covenant Amendment

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