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

The decision thus sets out the following clear direction concemmg 

changes to covenants in a subdivision or other development: 
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1. Covenants can be amended to add new restrictions 

by the vote of less than all homeowners only if there is language in the 

covenants specifically allowing that action. 

2. In the absence of language m the covenants that 

allows the imposition of new restrictions without the consent of all 

owners, any amendment creating new restrictions without unanimous 

homeowner approval is not valid. 

This decision provides clear drafting guidance for those prepanng 

covenants and wanting to allow amendment to impose new restrictions. It 

also lets homeowners know how to evaluate the requirements for 

amending covenants to add new restrictions. 

As the language quoted above makes clear, the 

Court's opinion was based on the policy of protecting the property rights 

and expectations of the minority who purchase their parcels based on 

language within covenants. 

As will be discussed below, the Neighbors want to 

change the rule set out in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities 

Associations, supra. The Supreme Court decided that case in April of 

2014. When a decision of the Supreme Court sets out unambiguous 

guidance for the public and the lower courts and rests its decision on a 

clear policy basis, there is no need for the Court to consider the matter 
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further. To the contrary, the public interest is advanced by the 

predictability that a Supreme Court decision gives. Once a decision is 

made and a rule established, the Court should not change the rule within 

two or three years. 

The Neighbors do not suggest that the Court of 

Appeals incorrectly decided this case based on the rule set out in 

Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. They want to 

change the rules set out in that case. The public interest will not be 

advanced by granting review to do so. Therefore, the Court should deny 

review. 

1v. The Court of Appeals' Decision Was Correct. 

Our case was correctly decided under the rule set 

out m Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. If 

anything, it presents a stronger and clearer case for application of the rule 

than did Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. 

The covenants in our case allow for their 

amendment in the following language: 

... (l)f .. .it appears to the advantage of this 
platted subdivision should be modified, 
then, and in that event, any modification 
desired may be made by the affirmative vote 
of 80% of the then owners of lots within this 
subdivision and evidenced by a suitable 
instrument filed for public record ... 

9 



(Ex. 1, Tab 1) The language allows for modification of existing 

restrictions by an 80% vote but does not mention creation of new 

restrictions. Nothing in the covenants addresses division of lots. This was 

the opinion of the attorney contacted when Mr. Brown decided to divide 

Lot 13. The trial court made the same determination in Finding of Fact 

No. 10. The Neighbors did not assign error to this finding and claim that 

it was a conclusion of law. The Court of Appeals came to this conclusion 

in two separate decisions. 

The Andersons relied on the existing language in 

the covenants to purchase Lot 2. They would not have bought the lot if 

the covenants had contained a restriction on division. (CP 26 FF11) 

The 2008 Amendment eliminated an owner's right 

to divide an existing lot. This amounted to a new restriction. It had no 

relation to any existing restriction because there is nothing in the 

covenants that deals with land division. Based on all these facts, the Court 

of Appeals ruled that the 2008 Amendment was invalid because it created 

a new restriction and because the covenants did not allow for the creation 

of new restrictions with less than unanimous approval. Opinion, pps.1 0-

11 The decision of the Court of Appeals was correct under the rule set out 
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in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. The Neighbors 

do not contend to the contrary. 

Our case presents a clearer and stronger case for the 

application of the rule set out in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities 

Associations, supra. In that case, the amendment concerned duration of 

vacation rentals. The covenants mentioned rental of houses but did not 

discuss duration. By contrast, there is absolutely nothing in the covenants 

here that addresses division of existing lots. In Wilkinson v. Chiwawa 

Communities Associations, supra, the covenants provided that they could 

be "changed" by a majority vote. In our case, the covenants can only be 

modified. Presumably, a "change" could include the creation of a new 

restriction. A modification, however, must revise an existing covenant. 

The Andersons relied on the language of the 

covenants in purchasing Lot 2. They would not have made the purchase if 

there had been a restriction on division. Invalidating the 2008 Amendment 

advances the policy behind the decision in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa 

Communities Associations, supra, protecting the expectations of the 

minority owners who purchased property based on the existing covenants. 

No similar facts were adduced in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities 

Associations, supra. 
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There is no need for the Supreme Court to take 

review of a case that was correctly decided in the Court of Appeals. The 

decision of the Court of Appeals on this point was obviously correct. 

v. The Neighbors Are Asking the Court to Overule 

Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations. 

The Neighbors ask the Supreme Court to take 

review to determine whether the 2008 Amendment was consistent with the 

subdivision's general plan of development. They contend that it was. 

However, the trial court made no findings of fact, one way or the other on 

this point. They contend for a rule similar to that expressed in the 

dissenting opinions of Justices Madsen and Gordon McCloud in Wilkinson 

v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. Each of those two opinions 

states that the validity of an amendment should be based on its consistency 

with the general plan of development and that this must be determined at 

trial. Opinion of Madsen, J., 180 Wn.2d at 268; Opinion of Gordon 

McCloud, J., 180 Wn.2d at 271 Justice Madsen further disagreed with the 

majority's distinction between amendment provisions that allow for 

modification and amendment provisions that allow for creation of new 

restrictions. 

The Neighbors are clearly asking for 

reconsideration and overruling of the rule expressed by the majority in 
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Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra. They are seeking 

a different rule-that any amendment imposing new restrictions can be 

adopted without the consent of all homeowners as long as it is consistent 

with the general plan of development. As discussed above, there is no 

reason for the Supreme Court to revisit a matter it ruled on only two years 

ago. 

In any event, and as the majority opinion makes 

clear, the general plan of development includes the provisions within the 

covenants that allow for amendment: 

While we recognize, as does the dissent, that 
no Washington case has described the 
precise contours of when an amendment 
would be "consistent with the general plan 
of development," we need not provide that 
guidance here because the Chiwawa general 
plan did not authorize a majority of owners 
to adopt new covenants. The Chiwawa 
general plan of development merely 
authorized a majority of owners "to change 
these protective restrictions and covenants in 
whole or in part." 

180 Wn.2d at 258 The Neighbors argument is self-defeating. Since the 

subdivision's general plan of development does not allow imposition of 

new restrictions without unanimous approval, it cannot possibly allow the 

2008 Amendment. 
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As the above passage recognizes, the Court did not 

decide what is required for an amendment to be consistent with the general 

plan of development. This is the wrong case to decide that question. It 

should be decided in a case where the covenants allow imposition of new 

restrictions without unanimity and the facts concerning consistency with a 

general plan are developed in the trial court. That did not occur here. The 

trial court made no findings of fact on that subject. 

The Neighbors would also revise the rule stated in 

Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Associations Communities, supra, to allow new 

restrictions to be imposed by more than a simple majority. There is 

nothing in the majority opinion in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Associations 

Communities, supra, that would allow for such a limitation of the 

opinion's thrust. The Court desired to protect the expectations of the 

minority of owners. Those expectations and the need to protect them are 

no different if that minority is large-49% if a simple majority must 

approve-or small, as here, when 80% can approve an amendment. 

Furthermore, the Court discussed Shafer v. Board of Trustees of Sandy 

Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc., 76 Wn.App. 267, 883 P.2d 1387 (1994)-a 

case where 60% of owners/association members had to approve any new 

restriction-without any mention that a supermajority was required for 

amendment in that case. 180 Wn.2d at 256 
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More to the point, the rule the Neighbors seek is not 

something the Court can determine. What level of supermajority is 

needed to overcome objections by a minority? Is 52% enough, or would it 

have to be 95%? There is no logical distinction between a majority, a 

relatively small supermajority such as 52%, or a very large supermajority 

such as 95%. Therefore, the sufficiency of any supermajority would have 

to be set by that branch of government that makes comparable 

determinations-the legislature. Courts should not be setting the standard 

for the supermajority. See, e.g., Rousso v. State, 170 Wn.2d 70, 239 P.3d 

1084 (2010) 

In seeking this new rule, the Neighbors question the 

entire prem1se of the decision in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Associations 

Communities, supra-protection of property rights and minority rights. 

Once again, they seek to overrule the entire thrust of the Court's decision. 

v1. Conclusion. 

The Neighbors contend that this case presents 

questions of public interest. It does not. It a dispute among a very few 

people on how to apply the rule set out in a Supreme Court decision to a 

specific set of circumstances. The decision of the Court of Appeals is also 

unpublished. If anything, the public interest requires that review not be 

taken so that there is no interference with the predictability that clear rules 
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set out in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra, gave 

us. The Supreme Court should deny review on these related issues. 

b. The Supreme Court Should Not Take Review of the "Law 

of the Case" Issue. 

The Neighbors also believe that the Court of Appeals 

improperly applied the "Law of the Case" doctrine. They do not claim 

that the decision is inconsistent with any decision of the Supreme Court or 

any other decision of the Court of Appeals. In fact, there is no 

inconsistency. Therefore, the Supreme Court should not take review. 

RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3) 

The "Law of the Case" doctrine precludes reconsideration 

of decisions the appellate court has made in a prior appeal of the same 

case. Bunn v. Bates, 36 Wn.2d 100, 216 P.2d 741 (1950); Roberson v. 

Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) The doctrine's application 

is limited to questions that have been presented and decided on the former 

appeal and those necessarily involved with the decision. Junkin v. 

Anderson, 21 Wn.2d 256, 150 P.2d 678 (1944); Columbia Steel Co. v. 

State, 34 Wn.2d 700, 706, 209 P.2d 482 (1949). When an issue is not 

decided in the first appeal, the doctrine does not prevent it being decided 

in the second appeal. Riley v. Sturdivant, 12 Wn.App. 808, 532 P.2d 640 
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(1975); Holst v. Fireside Realty, Inc., 89 Wn.App. 245, 948 P.2d 858 

(1997) 

The Court of Appeals ruled the "Law of the Case" doctrine 

did not preclude a decision on whether the 2008 Amendment was infirm 

because all homeowners did not agree to it. It made this decision on the 

basis that it did not decide this question in the first appeal, Anderson v. 

Brown, 2013 WL 4774132 (2013). The Court of Appeals pointed to 

language in the first appeal to support that conclusion. Opinion, p. 7 In 

coming to this conclusion, the Court was not merely relying on language 

in the prior opinion. The author of the current opinion, Judge Bjorgen, 

was one of the three judges that decided the first appeal. If anyone would 

know the intentions of the judges who decided the first appeal and what 

was or was not decided, it would be one of the judges that rendered the 

decision. It is therefore difficult to question the Court of Appeals' decision 

in this regard. 

Even if the Court of Appeals did somehow decide this issue 

in the first appeal, RAP 2.5(c)(2) gave that Court discretion to consider 

whether unanimity was required for the 2008 Amendment to be effective. 

It is allowed to do this if it determines that the first decision was clearly 
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erroneous or if there has been an intervening change in controlling 

precedent. Roberson v. Perez, supra, 156 Wn.2d at 33, 42-43 4 In their 

briefing, the Andersons argued that the first decision by the Court of 

Appeals was clearly erroneous if it was read to allow in the amendment to 

be effective in the absence ofunanimity among the Rivershore owners and 

that it can be said to represent a change to existing precedent. The 

Neighbors did not dispute that notion in the Brief of Respondents. 

To summarize, the "Law of the Case" doctrine allows 

consideration of issues not decided in the prior appeal. The Court of 

Appeals-in a decision authored by one ofthe judges involved in the prior 

appeal-stated that it had not decided in the previous appeal whether the 

2008 Amendment was infirm because it was not approved by all 

homeowners. The Neighbors don't dispute the rule underlying the Court 

of Appeals decision or allege that the application is somehow inconsistent 

with any opinion from either the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. 

They simply ask the Supreme Court to second guess the Court of Appeals 

on whether it decided the relevant question in the prior appeal. Under 

these circumstances, the Supreme Court should not accept review. 

4 The Court of Appeals did not reach this question since it determined that the issue had 
not been decided in the first appeal. Opinion, pps. 9-10, fn.2 
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c. If the Supreme Court Takes Review, It Should also 

Consider Other Issues Raised by the Andersons. 

The Andersons argued to the trial court and to the Court of 

Appeals that the 2008 Amendment was infirm because an affirmative vote 

for that Amendment did not come from 80% of the owners. The 80% 

threshold was not reached because there was no vote in favor from the 

owners of Lots 1, 8, and 9. There was no affirmative vote by the owners 

of Lots 1 and 9 because the signatures on the 2008 Amendment from Ms. 

Howard for Lot 1 and the McClaskeys for Lot 8 did not come from the 

owner. The McClaskeys and Ms. Howard owned the lots in their 

capacities as trustees but signed the 2008 Amendment in their individual 

capacities. Only Ms. Davis signed the 2008 Amendment for Lot 9. Mr. 

Davis' interest was, at that time, the property of his estate. But neither his 

personal representative nor any of the trustees of his trust signed the 2008 

Amendment. That means that there was no signature from the true owners 

of Lot 9 either. 

The Andersons also contended that the Neighbors were 

estopped from making the 2008 Amendment by their failure to take that 

action immediately after Mr. Brown subdivided his lot. The trial court 

ruled that no estoppel had occurred and that propriety of the signatures on 

the 2008 Amendment was concluded by the first decision of the Court of 
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Appeals based on the "Law of the Case" doctrine. That Court of Appeals 

did not address those issues. Opinion, p. 11 

If the Supreme Court decides to take review, that review 

should include these issues for one and only one very simple reason-the 

Andersons have not had the benefit of any appellate review of these 

matters. 

VI. Conclusion. 

The Supreme Court should deny review of this case. If it grants 

review, it should also consider the issues that the Andersons raised but 

were not reached by the Court of Appeals.